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Voices in the Desert: The Trombone Choir at the Martinez 
Indian Mission1

Stewart Carter

The customary Moravian services, adapted for the needs of the place, are 
now used [in the mission churches of southern California], and the Easter 
service, held in the grandeur of spring, in a land that is ever green, adds to 
the beauty of that service which is distinctive of Moravians the world over. At 
one station, Martinez, there is a trombone choir of no little merit, the result 
of much hard work on the part of Bro. Delbo [emphasis added].

				               – Edmund de Schweinitz Brunner2

The Moravian Church (Unitas fratrum, or Unity of the Brethren) has a long history of 
missionary work. Barely ten years after the establishment of the Renewed Church in 
Saxony in 1722,3 Moravian missionaries began spreading the word to the far corners of 
the globe. Following initial efforts in the West Indies and Greenland, they moved on to 
Surinam, South Africa, West Africa, Ceylon, Arctic Russia, Labrador, and continental 
North America.4 These missionaries carried with them strong convictions concerning 
Moravian worship and culture. My article recounts the establishment of a thriving music 
program along traditional Moravian lines, complete with a trombone choir, at an Indian 
mission in the California desert in the early part of the twentieth century. 
	 Moravian mission work in southern California began in earnest in 1889, when 
the Society for Propagating the Gospel among the Heathen, an organization based in 
Bethlehem and supported largely by Moravians of the Northern Province, established 
a mission station among the Cahuilla Indians at Potrero, California, near Banning. 
Missionary activity in the region expanded over the next two decades, with the 
establishment of a few additional missions, including Martinez, straddling the Riverside-
Imperial County line near present-day Thermal (see map, Figure 1).5 During the second 
decade of the twentieth century, Martinez was the largest of the Moravians’ southern 
California mission stations, though it was just slightly larger than Potrero, which served 
a different branch of the same tribe.
	 The Torres-Martinez Indian Reservation, as it is called today, lies near the north end 
of the Salton Sea, along the western shore. The Salton Sea has a curious history. Over the 
centuries, abnormally high levels of rainfall coupled with overflow from the Colorado 
River occasionally created small lakes in the lower reaches of the Cahuilla Basin, the 
lowest parts of which are more than 200 feet below sea level. Because crops could be 
grown year-round in this virtually frost-free region, investors began to explore ways to 
irrigate it around 1900. The year 1901 saw the opening of the Imperial Canal, which 
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diverted water from the Colorado River, some 50 miles to the east, into the Basin. In 
1904 the entrance to the canal silted up, thereby stopping the flow of water. Engineers 
created a new diversion of the Colorado River in order to compensate for the water lost 
to local agriculture, but soon the river flooded, escaped its banks, and changed course. 
It flowed into the basin, destroying a chain of small lakes, thereby threatening the 
incipient agricultural industry in the valley. The Salton Sea continued to grow in size 
until the Southern Pacific Railroad closed the breach in 1907. The Rev. W.H. Weinland, 
superintendent of the Moravian missions in the region, feared that the rising water level 
might force the residents of Martinez to relocate to Potrero.6 The floods and the ensuing 
efforts to close the breach were recounted in a popular novel of the time, Harold Bell 
Wright’s The Winning of Barbara Worth.7

	 The federal government established the Torres-Martinez Reservation for the Torres-
Martinez band of the Cahuilla tribe in 1876, with a grant of 20,000 acres of land. In 
1909, thinking the Salton Sea would evaporate and disappear within a few years, as it had 
done in times past, the government granted another 10,000 acres to the reservation, all 
of it at that time under water. But new irrigation sources—and a few years later, a new 
canal—continued to feed water into the Imperial Valley basin, and the Salton Sea became 

Figure 1: Schematic map of southern California, showing locations of Moravian missions  
in relation to major cities.
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a permanent fixture of the landscape. Here, in a harsh climate where temperatures in 
summer could reach as high as 127 degrees Fahrenheit,8 the people of Torres-Martinez 
lived and worked during the early decades of the twentieth century, a time that saw the 
mission reach its high point of attendance and influence in the local Native American 
community. In 1907 the Martinez mission had fifty-nine communicants.9

	 In 1908, as the Salton Sea was rising and submerging valuable reservations lands, 
The Rev. and Mrs. R.M. Stavely relinquished their work at Martinez because of ill health 
and moved to Banning, about sixty miles northwest of Martinez, close to the Potrero 
mission. The Rev. Arthur Correll Delbo (1871–1961) assumed pastoral duties at the 
Martinez mission, originally on a temporary basis.10

	 Almost nothing is known of music at Martinez prior to Delbo’s arrival. In 1907 
The Rev. Stavely reported that “The Easter services were well attended…. A Sacred 
Duet was well sung by two young men, one an Indian—the other a Mexican.”11 When 
Delbo assumed his post in late 1907 or early 1908, musical activities at the mission 
began to expand. In 1908–09 Delbo reported that “Both our Easter and our Christmas 
celebrations were made enjoyable by special singing by a choir of Indians trained by our 
Indian organist, Miss Annie Morongo. At Easter the special service ‘Bells of Hope’ was 
produced; at Christmas, ‘The Angel Chorus.’”12 Delbo, however, wanted a trombone 
choir, and he communicated his desire to Moravians in Bethlehem. On 24 May 1911 The 
Moravian, a weekly church-related newspaper published in Bethlehem, printed a report 
by Delbo on activities at Martinez, commenting on the seemingly endless land disputes, 
mentioning plans for a new church, and concluding with an appeal for instruments.

As it now stands they [i.e., the residents of the Martinez Reservation] are 
in a very much unsettled state over the land question. To the untutored the 
land question means nothing; but to us on the field it is a sore spot and we 
hope for a speedy settlement….13

	 The Indians, of their own free will and accord, have undertaken a plan 
to place a petition before the board for a new church, which we need very 
badly indeed….
	 We are also very anxious to start a trombone choir, but we lack the funds 
to secure the instruments. We have the talent, however.
	 Any one interested in helping this cause will please confer with Bro. C.H. 
Neisser, of Bethlehem, Pa.; he will take your money and secure the instru-
ments for us.14

 
Just a few months later Delbo’s hopes came to fruition, for he reported that 

This Autumn [1911] a Trombone Choir was organized and likewise an 
orchestra. This was made possible through the interest of our esteemed 
brother, Dr. Augustus Schultze15 and his Class in the Central Sunday School 
at Bethlehem, Pa.; the Bethlehem Indian Association and the untiring ef-
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forts of Bro. Augustus H. Leibert,16 of Bethlehem, Pa. With the exception 
of $5.00, Dr. Schultze’s Class contributed the entire cost of the trombones 
and of shipping them to Martinez. 
	 Judging from the present interest manifested, there is every reason to 
expect the development of an efficient Trombone Choir. No Indian has as 
yet been found for the soprano instrument so the missionary is playing that. 
This will doubtless encourage one of the Indians to attempt it, and then all 
the musicians will be Indians.17

In spite of Brother Delbo’s lament that no Indian could be found to play the soprano 
trombone, a photo that accompanies the above report graphically illustrates that not one, 
but two members of the native population were persuaded to take up that instrument 
(see Figure 2).

Figure 2: The trombone choir at the Martinez mission, 1911. Proceedings of the Society for 
Propagating the Gospel Among the Heathen, 1911, frontispiece. Reprinted by permission of 

the Moravian Archives, Winston-Salem, North Carolina.
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Later that same year, Delbo reported that

Christmas at Martinez was a most joyous festival. After much labor the Sun-
day School, together with the vocal and trombone choir and the orchestra, 
succeeded in rendering the cantata “Christmas” in an admirable manner. The 
Indian is very fond of music and very teachable. He seems to be able to learn 
to play almost any instrument. If our boys stick to it, the trombone choir 
will effect a great deal of good on this Reservation. Every available space in 
our inadequate chapel was occupied at the Christmas exercises.18

Mention of an orchestra in both of Delbo’s accounts comes as something of a surprise, and 
it is unfortunate that he did not elaborate on it. But there were still other innovations at 
Martinez in that year. In the same issue of the mission publication, an anonymous writer 
reported on the consecration of a new church building on 21 April 1912 (see Figure 3). 
Many of the Indians’ Anglo neighbors attended, witnessing “the cornerstone laid by Bro. 

Figure 3: Moravian mission church, Martinez, California, completed 1912. From 
Proceedings of the Society for Propagating the Gospel Among the Heathen 1913, p. 95.
 Reprinted by permission of the Moravian Archives, Winston-Salem, North Carolina.
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Wm. H. Weinland, Superintendent of the Mission, assisted by Bro. A.C. Delbo, pastor 
in charge.”19 Music figured prominently in this joyous ceremony:

The Indian choir of the Martinez Mission rendered several choice selections, 
with great credit to their leader, Bro. Delbo. The Indian trombone choir also 
assisted in the music, and though their playing was not absolutely perfect, 
they did remarkably well, considering the short time since they received their 
instruments. The entire service lasted two hours and a half, yet the closest 
interest was manifested to the end.20

	 The following year we hear of the trombone choir playing for the Christmas and 
New Year’s Watchnight services. Delbo reported that

Our Christmas festival was a pronounced success. The music, both vocal 
and instrumental, was fine. The orchestra and trombone choir are a great 
help at our services.
	 New Year’s Eve was celebrated in the usual manner. The people gather 
about dark; we have a big camp fire in the yard around which the Indians 
gather to spend the last hours of the old year. We also have music and sing-
ing in the church, and about 10.30 we serve lunch of buns, sandwiches and 
coffee. The services proper began at eleven o’clock. Promptly at midnight 
the trombone choir rendered two hymns from the belfry. Thus we closed the 
old year praising God.21

Celebration of New Year’s Eve “in the usual manner” refers to time-honored Moravian 
traditions dating as far back as the eighteenth century. The serving of a simple meal 
of “buns, sandwiches, and coffee” refers to the service known as the Love Feast. As 
concerns the trombones, precisely at the stroke of midnight, the trombone choir (or, in 
many churches today, the church band) intones the chorale Now Thank We All Our God, 
intentionally interrupting the orderly progress of the service. The fact that the trombones 
played “from the belfry” provides a further indication that the Martinez trombone choir 
took as its model the Bethlehem choir, which even today performs from the belfry of 
Central Moravian Church.
	 Sadly, the accounts recorded here marked not only the beginning of the trombone 
choir at Martinez, but its zenith as well. In 1914 ill health forced The Rev. Delbo and his 
wife Mary Ellen to retire to Banning. The Rev. R.M. Stavely and his wife, who had left 
Martinez in 1907, expressed their willingness to resume duties there, and were given a 
temporary appointment following the departure of the Delbos.22 It seems unlikely that the 
trombone choir survived Delbo’s departure, for it is not mentioned in subsequent reports 
from Martinez. Subsequent reports in PSPGH mention musical activity at Martinez only 
occasionally. In an item from 1923 we read that 
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The Christmas exercises were held on the evening of December 25th.… 
The singing was very creditable. Our Indian orchestra, consisting of piano, 
violin, cornet and trombone, added greatly to the enjoyment, and everybody 
was happy.”23 

Concerning a service on 2 November 1924, a visitor, The Rev. Karl A. Mueller, wrote, 

One of our Indian members, Brother Lomas, presided very ably at the 
piano…. On Sunday evening an extra “treat” had been planned: the recently 
organized band was to play after the service, but the musicians were still 
rather diffident and began the “concert” only after most of the congregation 
had dispersed. Then, however, they played several pieces very creditably. The 
leader is one of our Indians.24

By 1923, it seems, only one trombonist was left, and by 1924 there was a band, perhaps 
including the lone trombonist—though how the band differed from the “orchestra” 
mentioned the previous year is not clear.
	 Delbo developed in the space of just a few years a thriving music program at the 
Martinez Mission, complete with a trombone choir. Obviously Delbo was a trombonist 
himself, for he wrote of playing the soprano instrument in his report of 1912. Probably 
he had been a member of one of the Moravian trombone choirs in the East, perhaps 
in Lititz, where he grew up, or Bethlehem, where he attended Moravian College and 
Seminary, 1893–98.25

	 Delbo was clearly the driving force behind the creation of the Martinez Trombone 
Choir, but there may have been other factors at work as well. Brass bands were popular 
in the early years of the twentieth century, in California as elsewhere, among whites as 
well as Native Americans. In 1898 the Los Angeles Times reported a performance by “the 
Indian Band” at a patriotic celebration and parade in Riverside, where a large government 
Indian school was located.26 In 1899 the same publication reported a performance by 
the Perris Indian Band at a Wild West Show at Bay View Park in Los Angeles.27 More 
to the point, The Mission Indian, the house organ of St. Boniface’s Industrial School, a 
school for Native Americans in Banning, published the following item in July 1906:

The clamor of the band boys is now trombones. Trombone I., II. and III. 
The angels at the end of the world will not be in it when the Indian boys 
will play trombones.28

Considered in the context of the notices in the Los Angeles Times cited above, this last 
report suggests that there was more than a passing interest in wind instruments among 
the Native Americans in southern California. Perhaps this interest also affected the 
young men of Martinez. St. Boniface was a Catholic school, but there was a Catholic 
mission at Martinez;29 moreover, the Potrero Moravian mission, which served another 
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branch of the Cahuilla tribe, was nearby.30 It is possible that some of the Moravian 
boys from Martinez attended school in Banning31—or perhaps they had heard trom-
bones, played by whites or other Native Americans, at some other location in southern 
California. The Rev. Delbo may simply have capitalized on a growing trend.

Conclusion

For their time, Moravian missionaries were relatively enlightened in the respect they 
showed for the traditions of the populations they served, yet they could not resist 
imposing their own cultural and religious values and traditions. Brass instruments in 
general—and trombones in particular—are to some extent symbolic of the culture and 
music of the Moravian church. Moravian missionaries took brass instruments with 
them to many of their mission stations—to Greenland in 1733, Labrador in 1771, and 
also to southern Africa, Australia, Nicaragua, and Surinam.32 In the eighteenth and 
early nineteenth centuries, many Moravian churches in the eastern United States had 
homogeneous trombone ensembles.33 During the course of the nineteenth and early 
twentieth centuries, however, brass bands and mixed wind bands gradually supplanted 
trombone ensembles, until by the mid-twentieth century, only Bethlehem could boast 
a continuous tradition of trombones.34 The Martinez Trombone Choir may have been 
the only such ensemble ever established by Moravians at a mission church—that is, a 
homogeneous trombone ensemble comprised of converts. Moreover, at its zenith around 
1912, the Martinez Trombone Choir must have been one of a bare handful of Moravian 
ensembles consisting exclusively of trombones anywhere in the world.35

POSTSCRIPT: The Moravian mission on the Martinez Reservation (today known as 
the Torres-Martinez Reservation of Desert Cahuilla Indians) ceased operations in the 
1940s, in part due to dislocations and gasoline rationing during World War II.36 The 
Torres-Martinez Reservation today has fewer than 200 members, many of whom do not 
actually live on the reservation.37 The former mission church building still stands, but 
it is in a state of disrepair. The reservation council operates the Red Earth Casino near 
Salton City, California.38
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